IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 01-166

DANIEL BURNS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC PINKARD
ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE
FLORIDA BAR NO: 651443
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
SUITE 210
TAMPA, FL 33609-1004
(813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. Procedural history

On August 25, 1987, the Manatee County Grand jury indicted Daniel Burns for the first degree murder of Jeffrey Young on August 18, 1987, and for trafficking in cocaine (R 7–8). Mr. Burns was tried and convicted as charged, and sentenced to death for the murder and to 30 years imprisonment for trafficking (R 10-19). On December 24, 1992, this Court affirmed Mr. Burns conviction but vacated the death sentence, and remanded for a new penalty phase trial with a new jury. Burns v. State, 609 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1992).

The new penalty phase was conducted before the Honorable Paul E. Logan, Circuit Judge, and a jury on April 4-14, 1994 (R 214). The jury unanimously recommended a sentence of death (R 220). The court heard additional testimony and argument of counsel on May 27, 1994 (R 264). The court sentenced Mr. Burns to death on July 6, 1994 (R 264-274).

The court found three statutory aggravating circumstances were proved beyond a reasonable doubt and were merged: the murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties, committed to prevent a lawful arrest or escape from custody, and to disrupt the enforcement of laws relating to cocaine trafficking (R 269-272).

The court found five mitigating circumstances were established by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) Burns was 42 years old at the time of the offense. (2) He had no significant prior criminal activity, but the weight of this factor was reduced by evidence that he had delivered cocaine to two of his employees in the months before the murder. (3) He was raised in a poor, rural environment in Mississippi as one of 17 children in an honest, hard working, but disadvantaged family. He is intelligent and was continuously employed after high school. (4) Burns had contributed to his community and to society. He was a good student, graduated from high school, worked hard to support his family, and was honorably discharged from the military, but for excessive demerits after one month and 17 days active duty. (5) Burns had shown some remorse, and has shown some spiritual growth since his original sentencing. But the court found that Burns had never been completely truthful about the details of the crime, having consistently said it was an accident for which he was sorry, so the court found it "difficult to conclude" whether he had truly grown spiritually and was remorseful or his conviction and attitudes were only self-serving (R 272-73). This Court affirmed the sentence of death. Burns v. State, 699 So.2d 646 (Fla. 1997).

On March 2, 2000, Mr. Burns filed his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence (PC-R 327). On May 11, 2000, the lower court held a hearing on this

matter pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993). The evidentiary hearing was held November 20, 2000. Thereafter, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Burns' 3.850 in its entirety (PC-R 395-589). This appeal follows.

II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

State's Evidence at the Resentencing Trial

Sarah Hopkins testified that in August of 1987 she was employed as a dispatcher with The Florida Highway Patrol. (R. 1128). At 7:22 p.m. she received a request from Trooper Jeffrey Young for a registration and wanted check on a Michigan tag. (R. 1132). She told him the car was registered to Oliver Burns (R. 1132). Trooper Young then requested a wanted check on Samuel Williams (R. 1133). Mr. Williams was not wanted. (R. 1133). At 7:47 p.m. Trooper Young requested a backup. (R. 1134). He was extremely distressed and she could hear scuffling etc. (R. 1135). She alerted other Troopers and about two minutes after Trooper Young's last transmission she received word that he had been shot. (R. 1138).

William Johnson testified that he was traveling on Interstate 75 on August 18, 1987 (R. 1199). As he was heading north he saw a State Patrol car had pulled someone over. Down in the embankment he could see the person had the Trooper in a bear hug and was throwing him around (R. 1201). He pulled over and got out

of his car where he started down the embankment but the Trooper told him to stay back (R. 1205). He then saw the person on his knees throwing punches at the Trooper (R. 1206). He then saw the man stand up with a gun in his hand and he pointed the gun at the Trooper (R. 1208). He could see the man moving his lips then the Troopers hands went up and then he heard the shot (R. 1209). There were about ten people standing around at that time (R. 1209). After the shooting the man just nonchalantly walked off into some trees (R. 1210).

William Macina testified that on August 18, 1987 he was having his car towed down Interstate 75 (R. 1214). He noticed a police car had pulled someone over and they were starting to scuffle (R. 1215). He described the scuffle as a shoving match (R. 1216). They went down in the grass next to the road and the man came up with the gun in his hand (R. 1218). The man looked up at the people who had gathered, then pointed the gun back down at the Trooper (R. 1220). He then saw the man shoot the Trooper (R. 1222). The man then calmly walked into the woods (R. 1222).

Lawrence Ballweg testified that he was towing a car on I-75 on the day of the homicide (R. 1235). He noticed a Highway Patrol car with flashing lights on the side of the road and then saw a black man on the ground with a Trooper underneath him (R. 1238). They were wrestling (R. 1238). He started to run down

the hill and the Trooper told him to stop because the man had a gun (R. 1241). He noticed the man had a gun pointed at the trooper as the Trooper was on the ground (R. 1242). The Trooper then said "look you can give me back my gun and we can start this all over again. We don't have to do it like this. The man then shot the Trooper (R. 1245). The man then put the gun alongside him and casually climbed over the fence into the field (R. 1245). On cross examination he admitted that he had initailly told the police that he could not hear what was being said between the man and the Trooper (R. 1251).

Lieutenant David Sterman testified that he searched the area in his airboat and found Mr. Burns in a canal about .25 miles from the shooting (R. 1272). He told Mr. Burns to raise his hands and he did so (R. 1276). He found the service revolver the next day near the area where they apprehended Mr. Burns (R. 1277). On cross examination he stated that Burns was stripped naked in the boat and strip searched, and he had an odor of alcohol on his breath (R. 1278).

Dennis Trubey of FDLE testified he found a pouch bag at the pavement next to I-75 (R. 1327). The substance inside the bag was cocaine (R. 1333).

Samuel Williams testified that he had known Mr. Burns for about six years prior to August 18, 1987 (R. 1335). In Detroit, Burns told him that he was going down to Florida to buy \$10,000.00 worth of cocaine (R. 1341). About one week

later he left with Mr. Burns to come down to Florida (R. 1341). They were heading back up north on I-75 with Burns driving when they looked for an exit to use the restroom (R. 1346). At that point a patrol car started following them (R. 1347). They went down a dirt road and relieved themselves and started heading back toward the Interstate (R. 1347). The Trooper followed and Mr. Burns said "He's still following us" (R. 1348). Eventually, the Trooper turned his lights on and pulled them over (R. 1349). The Trooper asked for identification, which both he and Mr. Burns gave, and said everything had checked out (R. 1349). The Trooper then wanted to search the car (R. 1349). He was not sure if he was given permission by Burns (R. 1349). The Trooper then stated he wanted to search the trunk because there was a lot of drug traffic coming through that area and he asked permission to search the trunk, and Mr. Burns gave Mr. Williams permission (R. 1350). The Trooper went back toward the trunk and the witness heard him say "this looks like cocaine to me" and Burns say "Let me see that" and then he heard a scuffling (R. 1351). He turned around and saw them wrestling and he heard the Trooper say "you can all go" (R. 1352). After he sat back in the car he heard a gunshot and Burns said "Doc get the car out of here. Get the car out of here" (R. 1353). He took off in the car, drove about 30 miles and the car started giving him trouble and he pulled into an orange grove and left it (R. 1354). He was offered

immunity to testify in the case (R. 1355). On cross examination, Mr. Williams stated that before the incident he and Mr. Burns had about a pint of Crown Royal and a six pack of beer (R. 1356).

Defense evidence at the Resentencing Trial

Mr. Burn's mother, Ethel Burns, testified that she had 17 children, 11 boys and 6 girls (R. 1431). They all grew up on a plantation with hogs, potatoes, and chickens (R. 1432). Mr. Burns paid for his sisters funeral plot after she died of meningitis (R. 1434-36). Mr. Burns always worked hard at the plantation where they lived (R. 1442). He worked at a chemical plant to help support the family (R. 1443). Mr. Burns' brother, James Earl Burns, became crippled with polio (R. 1445). She tried to teach the children to read but did not get very far (R. 1447). The children did not have very many clothes (R. 1449). Mr. Burns provides some support for his brother Charles, who suffers from Downs Syndrome (R. 1450-52). After Mr. Burns left Mississippi and moved up north he tried to help the family by buying them a hog farm, and by sending money and gifts (R. 1452, 53). She visits Mr. Burns in prison and feels he still loves her (R. 1454).

Ellis Rance testified that he was born and raised in Yazoo County,

Mississippi (R. 1469). He lived near the Burns family (R. 1470). He stated that Dan
is a good man and good worker (R. 1472). On cross examination the witness

admitted it had been 27 years since he had day-to-day contact with Mr. Burns (R. 1476).

Albert Rance testified that he owns and operates a taxi service in Yazoo County, Mississippi (R. 1477). While growing up he knew the Burns family (R. 1479). Mr. Burns was a quiet person who behaved himself (R. 1482). Mr. Burns worked in the cotton field and also chopped wood (R. 1484). He never knew Mr. Burns to have any ill-temper or character flaws (R. 1486). On cross examination Mr. Rance admitted that after Mr. Burns left Yazoo County in 1967 he had very little contact with him and did not know what kind of person he became after he left (R. 1488, 89).

Delores Jones testified that she is from Yazoo City, Mississippi and Mr. Burns was her classmate (R. 1492, 93). Mr. Burns was quiet in high school and was always pleasant and very mannerable (R. 1496). On cross examination Ms. Jones admitted that she had only seen Mr. Burns about three times since 1967 (R. 1497). She did not know what kind of person he had become after graduation from high school (R. 1498).

Janie Mae Creeks testified that she went to school with Mr. Burns in Mississippi (R. 1499, 1500). Mr. Burns was quiet and never disobedient (R. 1502). On cross examination Ms. Cheeks admitted that she had not had any contact with

Mr. Burns after he graduated high school (R. 1505). She did not know the type of person he became after he left Yazoo City and moved to Detroit (R. 1506).

Gladys Barnes testified that she was born and raised in Mississippi (R. 1506). She went to high school with Mr. Burns in Yazoo City (R. 1508). Mr. Burns was always a very nice person (R. 1509). Mr. Burns wrote a sympathetic letter to her, from prison, after her husband died.

Johnny Spearman testified that he was born and raised in Mississippi (R. 1518). He met Mr. Burns in 1967 and they have been friends ever since (R. 1520). Since Mr. Burns moved away from Ohio, he would see him two or three times a year when Mr. Burns would visit (R. 1521). He had never seen Mr. Burns display any violent temper (R. 1522).

Mary Spearman testified she met Mr. Burns in 1965 after he had just graduated high school (R. 1529). Her sister was married to Mr. Burns' brother Edward (R. 1529). She stated that Mr. Burns is a very quiet person and had never seen him get in an argument (R. 1530). She never saw him display a temper (R. 1531).

Betty Allison testified that she is the mother of Mr. Burns' second oldest daughter (R. 1533). Mr. Burns asked her to marry him but she declined (R. 1534). Mr. Burns provided financial support to his daughter (R. 1535). Mr. Burns was a

nice young man (R. 1536). On cross examination Ms. Allison testified that Genava, Mr. Burns daughter, was born in 1970 (R. 1542).

Frances Rayford testified that she met Mr. Burns in Ohio after he had just graduated from high school (R. 1552). Mr. Burns was kind to her and her son (R. 1552).

Ernistine Burns testified she had known Mr. Burns for 25 years and first met him in 1968 in Mississippi (R. 1555). Mr. Burns was a nice and pleasant person (R. 1555).

Shirley Burns testified that she is Mr. Burns' niece (R. 1557). She moved up to Detroit at age 15 and Mr. Burns was a big help to her (R. 1558). Mr. Burns is a friendly person (R. 1559).

Michael Burns testified that he is Mr. Burns' nephew (R. 1563). Mr. Burns is a good uncle and had taken him fishing and shopping (R. 1564). He removed a fish hook from his finger once (R. 1565).

Mary Burns testified she is Mr. Burns' niece and works in a bank in Detroit (R. 1566). In 1979 she moved to Detroit and Mr. Burns helped her (R. 1567). He provided financial support (R. 1567). Mr. Burns has never been a violent person and is a very mild, good person (1568).

Barbara Burns testified that she is Mr. Burns' niece. (R. 1570). When she

moved to Detroit, Mr. Burns helped her financially (R. 1572). He acted as surrogate father (R. 1572). He was a hard worker (R. 1573). She stated her uncle is a wonderful person and a fantastic role model (R. 1574).

Diane Burns testified that she is Mr. Burns' sister (R. 1578). She stated that Mr. Burns was a role model back in Mississippi and provided financial support to the family (R. 1579). He drove her kids to school (R. 1584). Mr. Burns is a loving brother and giving person (R. 1585).

Earnest Burns testified she is Mr. Burns sister (R. 1592). She has had to call on Mr. Burns for financial assistance (R. 1594). When her sister died, Mr. Burns paid for the funeral plot (R. 1595). She has never seen Mr. Burns display any violent temper (R. 1595). He is a very quiet person (R. 1596).

Herbert Johnson testified that he is from Mississippi (R. 1597). He knew Mr. Burns when he came to Detroit and he was always nice to him, and was a pretty nice man (R. 1603). He has never seen Mr. Burns angry or mad (R. 1603). On cross examination Mr. Johnson stated that while Mr. Burns was living in Detroit he would see him once or twice a year (R. 1604).

May Johnson testified she first met Mr. Burns in 1967 (R. 1607). He was a kind, gentle and loving person (R. 1607). She visited Mr. Burns in jail and he received the Lord (R. 1608). He has remorse about what happened to the Trooper

(R. 1609).

Herbert Burns, Mr. Burns' brother, testified as to growing up in Yazoo city picking cotton and working in a meat packing company (R. 1618). Mr. Burns is supportive, a hard worker, and has never been violent (R. 1619).

Vera Laboa, Mr. Burns' sister, testified as to the very poor conditions growing up in Yazoo City and described picking cotton (R. 1622). Mr. Burns has helped support the family, sending boxes of clothes, and providing transportation (R. 1624). She saw Mr. Burns in jail and he was extremely sorry about the shooting (R. 1626). Mr. Burns has been a father figure and was loved by everyone (R. 1627).

James Burns, Mr. Burns' brother, testified that Mr. Burns was a role model while they were growing up (R. 1648). He described the poor conditions in Yazoo city, lack of running water and clothing (R. 1649). There were nights without enough food to eat (R. 1649). He has visited Mr. Burns in prison and he is very sorry for what happened (R. 1652). He has never known him to be violent (R. 1652).

Julia Blount, Mr. Burns' sister, testified as to the conditions growing up in Yazoo City (R. 1666). Mr. Burns always gave support to the family while she was growing up (R. 1667). Mr. Burns is a fantastic guy with a good heart (R. 1668).

On cross examination she stated that after Mr. Burns left Yazoo City in 1967 she had contact with him only when he would come visit in the summer (R. 1669).

David Burns, Mr. Burns' brother, testified described the conditions growing up in Yazoo City (R. 1675). Mr. Burns provided him with financial support and was a male leader in the family while he was growing up (R. 1677).

Minnie Burns, Mr. Burns sister, testified as to the living conditions growing up in Yazoo City, Mississippi (R. 1681). Everyone worked in the fields (R. 1681). She described Mr. Burns as a hard worker and a good provider for the family (R. 1682). After Mr. Burns left Yazoo City, he continued to send support to the family (R. 1684). She stated Mr. Burns has been like a father figure to her (R. 1686).

Mary Stafford, Mr. Burns' sister, testified as to the poor living conditions in Yazoo City, Mississippi (R. 1691). She described how the family picked cotton (R. 1691). She described Mr. Burns as smart, loving, and caring (R. 1693).

Jean Burns, Mr. Burns' niece, testified that Mr. Burns would come visit her in Ohio (R. 1695). He told her that she should "graduate and do something good with her life " (R. 1696).

Norman Gibson a minister, testified that he went to visit Mr. Burns in prison at the request of one of his sisters (R. 1704). Mr. Burns told him that he felt sorrow for what had happened (R. 1705). He saw changes and spiritual growth in

Mr. Burns (R. 1706).

Michael Radelet, a sociology professor at the University of Florida, testified based upon the prior record, characteristics of the crime charged, age at release, age at time of offense, history of alcoholism or drug abuse, institutional adjustments, and social support outside the family, Mr. Burns would "make a satisfactory adjustment to life in prison, and he would do so without threatening the guards or being at all disruptive" (R. 1737)

Diana Allen, Mr. Burns' counsel at the first trial, testified she never had any difficulties with Mr. Burns on the occasions she visited him in jail (R. 1818). He also always acted appropriately in court (R. 1818). Mr. Burns wrote her a letter thanking her for representing him and praying everything went well for her (R. 1825). In another letter Mr. Burns stated he was sorry about her accident and hoped she got better soon (R. 1827).

Debbie Scofield testified she started corresponding with Mr. Burns while he was in prison through an organization called Life Lines, a company who match up people who support prisoners (R. 1830). Initially, Mr. Burns literally skills were very poor but improved over time (R. 1831).

Kathleen Lawson testified that she became a pen pal with Mr. Burns after he came to prison (R. 1838). She stated Mr. Burns is very religious, concerned about

his parents, and uncomplaining (R. 1840).

Johnie Olifphant, testified she grew up in Yazoo City, Mississippi and related the poor conditions there (R. 1849). Mr. Burns worked in the fields (R. 1851). During the time they attended school together, Mr. Burns was a nice, quite person, and did not bother anyone (R. 1852). Mr. Burns continued to send support to her and her daughter after he left Yazoo City (R. 1854). Mr. Burns is her daughter Laura's natural father (R. 1855). She has never noticed any bad character traits in him and he has never been violent or mistreated her in any fashion (R. 1857).

Geneva Hamilton, Mr. Burns' daughter, testified she is 24 years old and lives in Arcola, Mississippi (R. 1862). She did not have much contact with her father growing up (R. 1865). Since Mr. Burns' incarceration in 1987, she has developed a relationship with him (R. 1867). She receives letters from Mr. Burns and visits him in prison (R. 1968). She thinks her father is the "best person in the world" R. 1873). On cross examination, she admitted she did not know her father well prior to the homicide (R. 1875).

Laura Evans, Mr. Burns' daughter, testified Mr. Burns visited her over the years when she was living in Mississippi and has been a great help and inspiration to her (R. 1878). He also provided financial support (R. 1881). On cross examination she stated that she first remembered meeting her father when she was

five (R. 1886). She was raised by her mother Olifphant and stepfather, not by Mr. Burns (R. 1886).

Evidentiary Hearing Facts

Counsel Adam Tebrugge:

Mr. Tebrugge represented Mr. Burns at the resentencing and was assigned to do investigation into potential mitigating circumstances and conduct the penalty phase (PC-R 435). He met with Dr. Berland about half a dozen occasions in preparation for the penalty phase (PC-R 436). It was his intention to call Doctor Berland (PC-R 436). Doctor Berland had related to him that Mr. Burns had brain damage (PC-R 438). There was no strategic reason associated with not calling Doctor Berland and/or another mental health expert (PC-R 438).

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