IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL BURNS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC01-166

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
FAX (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; see also, Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So. 2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993) ("The fact that postconviction counsel would have handled an issue or examined a witness differently does not mean that the methods employed by trial counsel were inadequate or prejudicial"); Mills v. State, 603 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1992); Stano v. State, 520 So. 2d 278, 281, n. 5 (Fla. 1988) (noting fact that current counsel, through hindsight, would now do things differently is not the test for ineffectiveness).

Thus, Tebrugge's failure to present Dr. Berland to testify to mental mitigation was a strategic decision, not subject to being second-guessed in a postconviction proceeding. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 223; Rose, 675 So. 2d at 569. In Rutherford, a strategic decision against presenting evidence of mental mitigation was upheld as effective assistance. Because counsel had investigated the mitigation and weighed the consequences of presenting this

evidence to the jury, Rutherford's claim of ineffectiveness was rejected. It doesn't make any difference that the actual reason for not presenting this evidence was not the same reason as that in Rutherford; Berland's family situation was just one of many factors which every attorney must assess in making any decision about presenting evidence. It is no less a strategic decision simply because it may be more practical than legal in nature. Rutherford dictates that an informed decision with regard to the presentation of evidence will defeat an allegation that counsel was constitutionally deficient. The court below properly cited to Rutherford and Burns has made no attempt to distinguish it in his brief.

Furthermore, even if this case had been tried as collateral counsel insists it should have been, the result would not have been any different. The evidence against Burns was very strong, and it belied any chance of a life recommendation. Defense counsel admitted that the extensive negative community reaction to this crime made the case difficult; it is important to keep in mind that the jury recommendation of death in this case was unanimous. In addition, a prior jury, even having considered the mental mitigation which Burns now claims should have been presented, had also returned a strong recommendation for death, ten to two. Burns committed a senseless murder of a law enforcement officer because he did not want to go to jail for

trafficking in cocaine; the circumstances of the offense, and the lack of any significant mitigation, demanded the imposition of the death penalty for this crime. The mitigation offered below did not change this conclusion.

Many comparable cases support the judge's conclusion below that no possible prejudice could be discerned from counsel's performance in this case, even if deficiency could be proven or presumed. In Rutherford, the jury had recommended death by a vote of seven to five; as in the instant case, the judge had found three aggravating factors (during a robbery/pecuniary HAC; and CCP) and the statutory mitigator of qain; significant criminal history. The judge had not found any nonstatutory mitigation, despite trial testimony of Rutherford's positive character traits and military service in Vietnam. Testimony was presented at the postconviction evidentiary hearing that Rutherford suffered from an extreme emotional disturbance and had a harsh childhood, with an abusive, alcoholic father. Yet this Court unanimously concluded that the additional mitigation evidence presented at the postconviction hearing would not have led to the imposition of a life sentence due to the presence of the three substantial aggravating circumstances. 727 So. 2d at 226. See also, Breedlove v. <u>State</u>, 692 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1997) (three aggravating factors of during a burglary, HAC, and prior violent felony

overwhelmed the mitigation testimony of family and friends offered at the postconviction hearing); Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) (no reasonable probability of different outcome had mental health expert testified, in light of strong aggravating factors); Tompkins v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1989) (postconviction evidence of abused childhood and drug addiction would not have changed outcome in light of three aggravating factors of HAC, during a felony, and prior violent convictions), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1093 (1990).

In Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990), trial counsel had failed to present mitigating evidence that Buenoano impoverished childhood had and was psychologically dysfunctional. Buenoano's mother had died when Buenoano was young, she had frequently been moved between foster homes and orphanages where there were reports of sexual abuse, and there was available evidence of psychological problems. Without determining whether Buenoano's counsel had been deficient, the court held that there could be no prejudice in the failure to present this evidence in light of the aggravated nature of the The mitigation suggested in the instant case is much less compelling than that described in Buenoano, and this case is also highly aggravated. See also, Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992) (asserted failure to investigate and present evidence of mental deficiencies, intoxication at time of offense, history of substance abuse, deprived childhood, and lack of significant prior criminal activity "simply does not constitute the quantum capable of persuading us that it would have made a difference in this case," given three strong aggravators, and did not even warrant a postconviction evidentiary hearing); Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 401-402 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 515 U.S. 1166 (1995) (additional evidence as to defendant's difficult childhood and significant educational/behavioral problems did not provide reasonable probability of life sentence if evidence had been presented); 561 So. 2d 541, 546 <u>Provenzano v. Dugger</u>, (Fla. (cumulative background witnesses would not have changed result of penalty proceeding).

In order to establish prejudice to demonstrate a Sixth Amendment violation in a penalty phase proceeding, a defendant must show that, but for the alleged errors, the sentencer would have weighed the aggravating and mitigating factors and found that the circumstances did not warrant the death penalty. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The aggravating factors found in this case were: the victim was a law enforcement officer; the murder was committed to avoid arrest; and the murder was committed to disrupt law enforcement (merged into one aggravating circumstance) (RS-R. V2/270). Burns has not and

cannot meet the standard required to prove that his attorneys were ineffective when the facts to support these aggravating factors are compared to the mitigation now argued by collateral counsel.

Thus, the investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence in this case was well within the realm of constitutionally adequate assistance of counsel. Trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation, presented appropriate penalty phase evidence, and forcefully argued for the jury to recommend sparing Burns' life. There has been no deficient performance or prejudice established in the way Burns was represented in the penalty phase of his trial. On these facts, Burns has failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of his claim that his attorney was ineffective in the investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence or in any other aspect of the penalty phase litigation.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING BURNS' CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESENT THE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE INITIAL TRAFFIC STOP OF BURNS WAS WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE AND MORE LIKELY THAN NOT WAS THE RESULT OF RACIAL PROFILING.

Burns' next claim asserts that his resentencing attorneys were ineffective for failing to present, as nonstatutory mitigation, evidence and argument suggesting that Trooper Young's initial traffic stop of Burns' car was the result of racial profiling. Although the State did not contest the holding of an evidentiary hearing on this issue, no testimony was presented on this claim. Since an evidentiary hearing was held, the standard of review requires deference to the trial court's factual findings. Melendez, 718 So. 2d at 746; Blanco, 702 So. 2d at 1252.

With regard to this issue, the trial court found:

alleges CCRC that Burns received ineffective assistance of counsel Resentence Counsel failed to assert "racial profiling" as a non-statutory mitigator at the resentencing proceeding. CCRC alleges that Tropper Young had no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity in order to justify the initial stop of Burns' vehicle. Instead, CCRC alleges that the stop was merely pretextual, i.e., based upon two black males driving an older model Cadillac with out-of-state plates, thus fitting the profile of drug traffickers.

The State responds that before the original trial, Burns' attorneys filed a

motion to suppress that challenged the legality of the initial traffic stop. An evidentiary hearing was held on March 10, 1988, and the court denied the motion. The State alleges it is thus unclear whether the defense could have raised this issue to the jury during the penalty phase.

The fact that a motion to suppress was decided adversely to Burns prior to the original guilt phase trial weighs against a finding by this Court that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise racial profiling as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance at the resentencing proceeding 1994. This Court's conclusion buttressed by the fact that in the trial court's oral ruling on the motion suppress, the court specifically declined to rule as a matter of law that the stop of Burns' vehicle was pretextual. Original Trial Record, Vol. XIII at 2118-2119 - admitted at Evidentiary Hearing as State Exhibit 2) Because the motion to suppress had been denied, such evidence should have been inadmissible at trial.

CCRC argues that Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978), provides authority for the admissibility of racial profiling in mitigation: "the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments require that the sentencer, in all but the rarest kind of capital case, not precluded from considering, mitigating factor, any aspect of the defendant's character or record of any of the circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than death." The Lockett majority made clear, however, that nothing in its opinion limited the traditional authority of a court to exclude, as irrelevant, evidence that did not bear on the defendant's character, prior record or circumstances of the offense. Id. at 604 n.12.

This, the alleged racial profiling while perhaps a circumstance of the original traffic stop and Burns' offense of trafficking in cocaine, would not, however, be a circumstance of the offense of first-

degree murder and would have been properly excludable. In any event, this Court cannot conclude that the failure to raise racial profiling as a non-statutory mitigating factor was outside of the range of reasonable professional assistance rendered to Burns at his resentencing proceeding.

(PC-R. V3/409-410).

Burns' brief does not attempt to identify any error in this ruling, but simply mirrors the claim as presented in his postconviction motion. The trial court's finding that evidence about the traffic stop would not be admissible is correct, since any evidence of improper racial profiling would not reduce Burns' moral culpability for the murder of Trooper Young or extenuate the circumstances of the offense. See, Pope v. State, 679 So. 2d 710, 716 (Fla. 1996) (trial court properly refused to consider circumstances of the crime as mitigation where they did not reduce moral culpability or extenuate the circumstances of crime), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 1123 (1997). And to the extent Burns' now asserts that such evidence would support his mental mitigation by suggesting a reason for him to be paranoid about the traffic stop, this assertion need not be considered unless this Court determines, contrary to the court below, that such mental mitigation was constitutionally required in this case.

In addition, case law suggests that this is an issue of law for the trial judge, not a question of fact for the jury. See, Carter v. State, 428 So. 2d 751, 753 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) (noting

that suppression is an issue "solely for determination by the trial court"). The concepts of reasonable suspicion or probable cause involve legal principles which should not be second-guessed by a jury. Although the question of the reliability of a confession may be considered by a jury, even the ultimate question of voluntariness is a determination of law for the trial judge. Ramirez v. State, 739 So. 2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1131 (2000); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 642 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996). Therefore, the question of the validity of the traffic stop in this case could not have been legally presented to Burns' resentencing jury.

The State seriously questions whether, even if proven, the alleged racial profiling would ever be considered "mitigating" to a reasonable juror. On its face, attacking the character of a murdered law enforcement officer seems a dangerous and unreasonable trial tactic. In this case, such strategy would have clearly opened the door to the State countering this evidence with testimony about the victim's professional similar to the evidence that reputation, the defense aggressively challenged in his first trial, leading to his resentencing. The lack of evidence presented on Burns' claim of ineffectiveness below and the trial court's finding that the failure to present this alleged mitigation was not outside the

range of reasonably professional assistance compels the denial of relief on these facts. The trial court's proper rejection of this claim must be affirmed.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING BURNS' CLAIM CHALLENGING THE ADEQUACY OF HIS RESENTENCING ORDER.

Burns' next issue asserts that his resentencing judge committed fundamental error by failing to address and weigh each mitigating circumstance, and that his trial attorneys were ineffective for failing to file a motion for rehearing to correct this error. Because these issues are not cognizable in postconviction and therefore not properly before this Court, no standard of review is applicable.

The court below properly found this issue to be procedurally barred and without merit. This Court has consistently held this claim to be procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. See, Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218 (Fla. 1999)(claim that trial judge failed to adequately consider mitigation was procedurally barred); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1016, n. 9 (Fla. 1999) (same); LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So. 2d 236, 241, n. 11 (Fla. 1998) (same); Jennings v. State, 583 So. 2d 316, 322 (Fla. 1991) (same). In finding the claim to be substantively without merit, the court below noted that the sentencing order rendered was comprehensive enough for this Court to conduct an adequate proportionality review, and that no ineffective assistance claim could be premised on counsel's failure to file a motion for rehearing since there would be no

prejudice; counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious issue. See, <u>Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994). Burns' brief does not attempt to identify any error in the denial of this issue, but merely tracks the same argument from the postconviction motion which was rejected below. No basis for relief has been offered on these facts.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING BURNS' CLAIM OF JURY INSTRUCTION ERROR.

Burns' last issue asserts that his resentencing judge violated the Florida and United States Constitutions by providing a jury instruction which allegedly shifted the burden of proof to Burns to establish that a life sentence was appropriate. Because this issue is not cognizable in postconviction and therefore not properly before this Court, no standard of review is applicable.

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